DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

24-CT-276 Clerk of the Court Received 08/05/2024 11:21 PM Filed 08/05/2024 11:21 PM

Appellant

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Criminal Division 2022 CDC 3737

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Adrian E. Madsen, Esq. Bar No. 1032987 8705 Colesville Road, Suite 334 Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (202) 738-2051

Fax: (202) 688-7260 madsen.adrian.eric@gmail.com

D.C. App. R. 28(a)(2)(A) Statement

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting over objection a government motion for continuance which failed to make four parts of the "fivefold showing" required under this court's jurisprudence.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred by interpreting D.C. Code § 22-1312 to proscribe exposure of the genitalia while on private property.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by rejecting Mr. Flowers' necessity defense where the complainant took Mr. Flowers' cell phone from his immediate or actual possession, where Mr. Flowers, wearing only a sweatshirt, then followed the complainant onto public property in an effort to retrieve his phone, and where the statutory penalty for robbery far exceeds that for lewd, indecent, or obscene acts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Flowers was charged by information with one count of lewd, indecent, and obscene acts in violation of D.C. Code § 22-1312 based on events alleged to have occurred on July 2, 2022. R. 1, 82 (PDF).² After the Honorable Judith Pipe

¹ Bedney v. United States, 684 A.2d 759, 766 (D.C. 1996).

² "R. [page number] (PDF)" refers to the record on appeal by page number of the pdf file, with citations to the page number of the original document as appropriate. "S.R." refers to the sealed, supplemental record on appeal. "Tr." refers to transcript by date of proceeding.

vacated Mr. Flowers' conviction, finding that Mr. Flowers' prior counsel had rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel,³ Mr. Flowers rejected the District's plea offer, and the case was set for trial on January 24, 2024. 11/8/23 Tr.

About three weeks later, over Mr. Flowers' objection,⁴ the trial court granted the District's motion for a continuance⁵ without making any findings regarding the required "fivefold showing," and trial was reset for March 18, 2024. 1/24/24 Tr.

At trial, the government presented two witnesses, Laura Okpala, a resident of the same building in which Mr. Flowers resided as of the date of the alleged offense,⁷ and Metropolitan Police Department Officer Nathan Clarke. 3/18/24 Tr. 110-23. The defense did not present any witnesses. The trial court rejected Mr. Flowers' argument that D.C. Code § 22-1312 applies only on public property⁸ and rejected his necessity defense, predicated on the need to retrieve his phone, with which Ms. Okpala had left the building in which the two resided after dislodging it from Mr. Flowers during a physical struggle. 3/20/24 Tr. 32-34. Finding Mr. Flowers guilty of the sole charged offense, the court sentenced him to 80 days' incarceration,

³ Because Mr. Flowers had appealed from his conviction (in 23-CT-176), the trial court first issued an indicative order (R. 541 (PDF)), before issuing an order vacating Mr. Flowers' conviction after this court granted Mr. Flowers' consent motion to remand in 23-CT-176. R. 542 (PDF).

⁴ R. 549-59 (PDF).

⁵ R. 544-48 (PDF).

⁶ R. 560.

⁷ 3/18/24 Tr. 9-109.

⁸ 3/20/24 Tr. 31.

execution of sentence suspended as to all, in favor of 30 days of unsupervised probation. R. 571-72 (PDF). This timely appeal followed. R. 573-77 (PDF).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 2, 2022, Mr. Flowers was charged by information of lewd, indecent, or obscene acts in violation of D.C. Code § 22-1312 based on events alleged to have occurred the same day. R. 1, 82 (PDF). After Mr. Flowers' conviction in this case was vacated pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-110,9 Mr. Flowers rejected a plea offer, and the case was set for trial. 11/8/23 Tr.

The District's Motion for a Continuance

On December 1, 2023, without citation to court rule, statute, or other authority, moved for a continuance, asserting that witness Laura Okpala "was no longer available for trial on January 24, 2024" because she was "scheduled to present at a work conference in Las Vegas." R. 545 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 2). The District proffered that the conference was "scheduled from January 22, 2024 through January 25, 2024," that "Ms. Okpala's presentation [wa]s tentatively scheduled for January 23, 2024," but "the exact timing ha[d] not been determined." *Id.* Regarding any content of Ms. Okpala's expected testimony, the District proffered only that "Ms. Okpala is an essential witness... and is expected to testify at length about her observations of [Mr. Flowers] on the incident date." *Id.* The District did not state whether Ms.

⁹ R. 542 (PDF).

Okpala was under subpoena, whether any efforts had been made to place Ms. Okpala under subpoena, whether Ms. Okpala was expected to present alone or with others at the "work conference," whether anyone else from her employer was available to present in her stead at the work conference, the necessity or importance of giving such a presentation to Ms. Okpala's employment, what specifically the District expected Ms. Okpala's testimony would be, or how often Ms. Okpala has similar work commitments. R. 544-48 (PDF).

The next day, Mr. Flowers opposed the motion. R. 549-59 (PDF). As an initial matter, Mr. Flowers argued, the District had not shown any actual conflict between the witness's presentation, "tentatively scheduled" for January 23, 2024, and the trial, scheduled for January 24, 2024. R. 550-51 (PDF) (Mtn. 2-3). Mr. Flowers also argued that the District had failed to make four of the five required showings under *Bedney* and its progeny, arguing, in short, that: 1) the single, conclusory statement that Ms. Okpala was "an essential witness... and... expected to testify at length about her observations of [Mr. Flowers] on the incident date" was insufficient under *Moctar* and *Daley* to show "what the witness['s] testimony would be," that the District necessarily failed to establish the relevance and competence of

¹⁰ R. 545 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 2).

¹¹ Moctar v. United States, 718 A.2d 1063 (D.C. 1988).

¹² Daley v. United States, 739 A.2d 814 (D.C. 1999).

¹³ Bedney, 684 A.2d at 766 (quoting Kimes v. United States, 569 A.2d 104, 114 (D.C. 1989)).

Ms. Okpala's expected testimony where it failed to proffer what her testimony would be, 14 3) that the District failed to establish that Ms. Okpala's testimony could probably be obtained if the request for a continuance was granted where it failed to proffer whether Ms. Okpala was under subpoena, whether it sought to place Ms. her under subpoena, whether Ms. Okpala might have similar commitments in the future, and, if so, how often she might have such commitments, 15 4) that the District failed to show that it exercised due diligence in attempting to secure Ms. Okpala's presence where it failed to proffer whether Ms. Okpala was under subpoena or whether any efforts had been made to place her under subpoena, ¹⁶ and 5) that "the public's interest in the prompt, effective, and efficient administration of justice" ¹⁷ likewise weighed against granting the requested continuance where the then-scheduled trial date was approximately eighteen months after the alleged offense, where Mr. Flowers had consistently sought to have the case tried expeditiously, and where it was unclear how far into the future another trial date convenient for all parties would exist. R. 556-58 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 8-10).

Days later, without any findings regarding the required "fivefold showing," the trial court granted the District's motion in a one-page order. R. 560 (PDF).

¹⁴ R. 553-54 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 5-6).

¹⁵ R. 554-55 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 6-7).

¹⁶ R. 555 (PDF) (Mtn. p. 7).

¹⁷ Smith v. United States, 180 A.3d 45, 64 (D.C. 2018) (quoting Brooks v. United States, 130 A.3d 952, 960 (D.C. 2016)).

Laura Okpala

On March 18, 2024, the parties appeared for a non-jury trial before the Honorable Robert Morin. The District first called Laura Okpala. 3/18/24 Tr. 9. On direct examination, Ms. Okpala testified that in the early morning hours of July 2, 2022, after she exited a rideshare outside of the building in which she then lived, located at 1825 T Street NW, she "saw a man," whom Ms. Okpala later identified as Mr. Flowers, "naked from the bottom half," "exposed," and "in the bushes." 3/18/24 Tr. 9-10. Characterizing the man's actions as "following" her "as [she] was walking out" of the rideshare and "into the building," Ms. Okpala testified that the man had on a "sweatshirt" that "wasn't sufficiently long... to cover his genitals and buttocks." 3/18/24 Tr. 11. Ms. Okpala used her key fob to enter the building, after which time she observed the man "attempting to break in" through a "glass" entry door. 3/18/24 Tr. 11-12. According to Ms. Okpala, the man was "yelling at [her] and screaming," "looked very much in distress," and seemed "very...disorganized" "discombobulated." 3/18/24 Tr. 12. After Ms. Okpala closed the entry door behind her, Mr. Flowers used "some sort of metal grate or something" to "pry the door open," during which time Mr. Flowers "was [not] making any attempt to cover his genitalia" or "anus." 3/18/24 Tr. 12-13.

Ms. Okpala testified that the building had CCTV cameras and that, as the condo board president, she would be aware "if there were any issues with th[e]

CCTV." 3/18/24 Tr. 15. After some discussion, the court sustained Mr. Flowers' objection to a portion of video footage, identified as government exhibit 1, containing events which the witness, who was not the custodian of records for the building, did not personally observe. 3/18/24 Tr. 17-19. Without objection, the government then introduced (as government exhibit 1) video footage depicting events Ms. Okpala did observe from the time she exited the rideshare to Mr. Flowers entering 1825 T Street NW. 3/18/24 Tr. 19-21.

After Mr. Flowers entered the building, according to Ms. Okpala, he "went into the lobby, took the steps there up to the elevator, and then started to, you know, charge at [her] at the top of the stairs," during which time Mr. Flowers did not "make any attempt to cover his genitalia" or "anus." 3/18/24 Tr. 22. After Mr. Flowers "charged at" Ms. Okpala, he "r[an] away," at which time Ms. Okpala "attempt[ed] to call the police," and "pick[ed] up a phone [she] believe[d] [Mr. Flowers] had dropped and went outside to call police." 3/18/24 Tr. 22. Ms. Okpala testified that Mr. Flowers "chased" her out of the building and that, when police arrived, she told them that she had Mr. Flowers' phone. 3/18/24 Tr. 22. Ms. Okpala then reiterated this testimony while portions of government exhibit 1 were published to the court. 3/18/24 Tr. 23-24. After the government again sought to move into evidence earlier portions of government exhibit 1, depicting events Ms. Okpala did not personally observed, the court reserved ruling. 3/18/24 Tr. 25-27.

On cross-examination, Ms. Okpala agreed that 1825 T Street NW is a privately owned condominium building, that she told police on July 2, 2022, that Mr. Flowers did not reside at 1825 T Street NW, and that this was incorrect; i.e., that Mr. Flowers did reside at 1825 T Street NW as of July 2, 2022. 3/18/24 Tr. 29-31. Ms. Okpala was impeached with her prior testimony and statements to police that Mr. Flowers was "covered in blood" when she first saw him on July 2, 2022. 3/18/24 Tr. 32-35. When pressed about where on Mr. Flowers' body Ms. Okpala claimed the blood was, Ms. Okpala indicated that it was "all over his bottom half." 3/18/24 Tr. 35. When Mr. Flowers' moved into evidence a still image from video footage depicting Mr. Flowers shortly after Ms. Okpala's arrival at 1825 T Street NW on July 2, 2022, 18 Ms. Okpala "c[ould] not identify" any such blood "in this photo." 3/18/24 Tr. 36-38. Ms. Okpala was similarly unable to identify blood in two additional still images admitted as defense exhibits 2 and 3. 3/18/24 Tr. 38-40.

Ms. Okpala did not immediately see Mr. Flowers after getting out of the rideshare, which she attributed to it being dark and Mr. Flowers being near some bushes. 3/18/24 Tr. 41-42. After being impeached with body-worn camera footage from the night of the incident, Ms. Okpala agreed that she told police that Mr. Flowers "jumped out of the bushes," before testifying that what she meant by saying that Mr. Flowers "jumped out of the bushes" was that she "was fearful." 3/18/24 Tr.

¹⁸ The image was admitted as defense exhibit 1.

42-47. Ms. Okpala agreed that government exhibit 1 did not depict Mr. Flowers jumping between the time she exited the rideshare and entered 1825 T Street. 3/18/24 Tr. 50-52. 19 After some evasion, Ms. Okpala agreed that Mr. Flowers asked her to let him in the building before she entered, that she refused to do so, and that Mr. Flowers lived in the building as of July 2, 2022. 3/18/24 Tr. 53-56.

After a lunch recess, Mr. Flowers introduced as defense exhibit 5 still another still image depicting Mr. Flowers in the lobby of 1825 T Street NW in which Ms. Okpala could not identify any blood on him. 3/18/24 Tr. 59-60. Mr. Flowers admitted as defense exhibits six and seven two additional still images showing the lobby, stairs, landing, and elevator of 1825 T Street NW. 3/18/24 Tr. 61-64. After a substantial amount of questioning and being confronted with video footage from the interior of 1825 T Street NW, Ms. Okpala agreed that she did "push" Mr. Flowers when he went up the stairs depicted in defense exhibit eight, at a time when Ms. Okpala was between Mr. Flowers and his apartment, and that she had previously testified under oath that she had "absolutely not" done so.

Q: And but again here today, right, you admit that you did push him down the stairs?

A: I -- yes, I agree that there was probably some force. As I stated, I don't recall ever doing that, but I do anticipate that any reasonable person would push him off of me if an unclothed person was running at you.

¹⁹ Ms. Okpala agreed that government exhibit 1 depicted events occurring more quickly than the events occurred in real time. 3/18/24 Tr. 49.

3/18/24 Tr. 64-71.

Ms. Okpala denied that, after Mr. Flowers made his way past her at the top of the stairs, she tried to grab him, including when confronted with video footage of their interaction, admitted as defense exhibit 10. 3/18/24 Tr. 74-77. After Mr. Flowers moved past her at the top of the stairs, Ms. Okpala picked up what she believed to be Mr. Flowers' phone, before leaving the building. 3/18/24 Tr. 78-81.

On redirect examination, Ms. Okpala testified that a portion of video admitted as government exhibit two did not show Mr. Flowers attempting to cover his buttocks. 3/18/24 Tr. 103-05. Ms. Okpala also testified that Mr. Flowers did not put on any pants or underwear before "chas[ing]" her "outside." 3/18/24 Tr. 105. The government also admitted as government exhibit 4 a photo of "Mr. Flowers running down the hall" which Ms. Okpala testified depicted the "reddish brown liquid that" she claimed to have seen "all over his legs." 3/18/24 Tr. 105-07. Ms. Okpala also testified that Mr. Flowers' "genitalia" and "buttocks" were "exposed" when he "exited the building the second time" and that Mr. Flowers did not "make any attempt to cover" either. 3/18/24 Tr. 106-07.²⁰

Officer Nathan Clarke

The government next called MPD Officer Nathan Clarke. Officer Clarke

²⁰ The trial court resolved an earlier Jencks issue, *see* Super. Ct. Crim. R. 26.2, concluding that the assigned prosecutors had not taken any notes related to this case during a witness conference. 3/18/24 Tr. 107-09.

testified that at around 12:45 am on July 2, 2022, he was on patrol in the 1800 block of S Street NW when he received a call for "a sexual assault in front of 1825 T Street NW." 3/18/24 Tr. 110-12. When on T Street NW, Officer Clarke saw standing in the street "a male in a pink hoodie with blood on him with a fully exposed penis beside a lady in a vehicle." 3/18/24 Tr. 112. Officer Clarke testified that he could see the man's penis, and that the man's hoodie was not long enough to cover his penis. 3/18/24 Tr. 113.

Through Officer Clarke, the government introduced body-worn camera video of Officer Clarke "running into 1825 T Street NW." 3/18/24 Tr. 113-15. Officer Clarke testified that the "street that [he] first arrived on before [he] went into this building[] is... a public street," but that he did not "see any other cars or pedestrians besides the lady and the man that [he] described that night." 3/18/24 Tr. 116. Without objection, Officer Clarke identified Mr. Flowers in court as the man in the hoodie. 3/18/24 Tr. 115-16. Narrating video footage, Officer Clarke testified that he went down a hallway in 1825 T Street before arresting Mr. Flowers. 3/18/24 Tr. 116-18.

On cross-examination, Officer Clarke testified that Mr. Flowers was about 90 feet away when Officer Clarke first saw him. 3/18/24 Tr. 119. When Officer Clarke denied that Mr. Flowers was out of sight by the time Officer Clarke got out of his police car, he was impeached with a still image from his body-worn camera footage, admitted as defense exhibit 18, showing that Mr. Flowers was not visible when

Officer Clarke got out of the car. 3/18/24 Tr. 119-21. Officer Clarke agreed that Mr. Flowers was not touching Ms. Okpala when Officer Clarke turned onto T Street, and that he never saw Mr. Flowers touch Ms. Okpala. 3/18/24 Tr. 121. Ms. Okpala told Officer Clarke that Mr. Flowers did not live in the building, did not tell Officer Clarke that "any of her hair had been pulled out." 3/18/24 Tr. 122.

Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

Before moving for a judgment of acquittal ("MJOA"), Mr. Flowers argued that, based on 2011 amendments, D.C. Code § 22-1312 proscribed "indecent" behavior only on public property, and, in order to violate the statute, "has to both at the same time, concurrently, willfully expose themselves and willingly be on public property." 3/18/24 Tr. 124-29. The court then denied the MJOA. 3/18/24 Tr. 129.

Defense Memorandum

Prior to closing arguments, Mr. Flowers submitted a memorandum regarding the elements of the offense, in which he expanded upon his position at MJOA, arguing that evidence sufficient to support a conviction under D.C. Code § 22-1312 by "mak[ing] an obscene or indecent exposure of his or her genitalia or anus" requires proof that "1) the accused exposed his or her genitalia or anus, 2) the exposure occurred while the accused was on public property, 3) the accused was willfully present on public property, 4) that the accused willfully exposed his or her genitalia or anus, and, 5) that the accused intended to draw attention to his or her

exposed condition." R. 563-68 (PDF).

Closing Arguments

After the trial court ruled that an earlier portion of government exhibit 1, on which it had reserved ruling, was admissible,²¹ the government gave its closing argument. 3/20/24 Tr. 7-12. The government argued that D.C. Code § 22-1312 reaches private property and applies "in public view before the people at large," and that Mr. Flowers was guilty based both on when he was "outside on a public street" and when "in the lobby." 3/20/24 Tr. 8-10. The government also argued that "the criminal intent for this offense is general" and that it had proven such intent by (the government argued) Mr. Flowers: 1) "trying to yank open the door, using the metal grates [to] open the door, yelling at the victim, and 2) being "in the lobby of a condominium building" and "also on the public street." 3/20/24 Tr. 10-11.

Mr. Flowers reiterated his argument that "in public" within the meaning of D.C. Code § 22-1312 means on public property, and divided the evidence into three time periods: 1) the time before Ms. Okpala arrived, 2) the time between Ms. Okpala arriving and entering 1825 T Street NW, and 3) the time between Mr. Flowers leaving 1825 T Street NW in an effort to retrieve his phone from Ms. Okpala and returning to the building. 3/20/24 Tr. 14-16. Regarding the first period, Mr. Flowers argued that he was making consistent efforts to cover and conceal himself, both with

²¹ 3/20/24 Tr. 7.

his sweatshirt and bushes, and reenter 1825 T Street NW. 3/20/24 Tr. 14-15. Regarding the second period, Mr. Flowers argued that he was not guilty both because he was on private property and not willfully exposing himself. 3/20/24 Tr. 15-17. Regarding the third period, Mr. Flowers argued that necessity—retrieving his phone from a robbery after unsuccessful, repeated requests for Ms. Okpala to return his phone—excused any exposure of his genitalia during that time. 3/20/24 Tr. 17-18.

In rebuttal, the government argued that *Bolz v. District of Columbia*²² stands for the proposition that D.C. Code § 22-1312 applies on private property so long as a person is "in public view," and that Mr. Flowers could have "take[n] his sweatshirt off, [and] wrap[ped] it around his genitals to cease the exposure." 3/20/24 Tr. 20-22. The court then viewed the earlier portions of government exhibit 1 which it had admitted after previously reserving ruling on the admissibility of those portions. 3/20/24 Tr. 22-28.

Findings and Verdict

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