No. 24-CT-276

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Received 10/21/2024 01:24 PM

MICHAEL D. FLOWERS, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

*TESSA GELLERSON Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-6635

*Counsel expected to argue

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court acted well within its discretion in granting a continuance to secure the testimony of an "essential" witness. The decision to grant or deny a continuance is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court and should not be disturbed absent a showing of prejudice. Here, there was no abuse of discretion: the District explained that Okpala, the victim and central witness, was no longer available for trial on January 24, 2024 because of a work conflict. The trial court could readily assess the content and relevance of Okpala's testimony based on her testimony in Flowers's first trial, and the District offered to make itself available for an alternate trial date "at the court's earliest availability." R. 557 (12/2/23 Opp'n 9 n.10). Anyways, Flowers suffered no prejudice from a roughly two-month delay in his trial. Absent a showing of any prejudice, this Court should leave Flowers's conviction undisturbed.
- 2. The trial court correctly held that D.C. Code § 22-1312, which makes it unlawful for any person, "in public, to make an obscene or indecent exposure of his or her genitalia," restricts conduct on both public and private property so long as the exposure occurs in open view of the public at large. Flowers errs in proposing an

alternate reading of Section 22-1312 that would limit the provision to conduct on public property. That reading is out of step with this Court's existing case law, which has already defined "in public" to mean "in open view; before the people at large." *Bolz*, 149 A.3d at 1143 (quoting D.C. Council, Report on Bill 18-425 at 7 (Nov. 18, 2010) ("Report")). It is also out of step with the provision's plain meaning and the legislative history. And adopting Flowers's cramped reading would create absurd loopholes and workability concerns.

3. If this Court rejects Flowers's restrictive reading of Section 22-1312, it need not reach his necessity defense at all. Even if it does broach the issue, this Court should find the defense unavailable. The necessity defense can immunize criminal conduct only if there were no legal alternatives available to the defendant besides violation of the law. Flowers argues that he had to go onto the public street with his genitalia exposed to prevent Okpala from robbing him of his phone. But at trial, Flowers proffered no evidence that there were no legal avenues available to him, and the evidence suggests that there were, in fact, several legal alternatives. The most obvious is that Flowers could have walked a few doors down to his apartment and put on clothes before going out into the street. Because he had not exhausted all legal options, Flowers cannot invoke a necessity defense.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Granting A Continuance.

Flowers's retrial was originally set to start on January 24, 2024. After Okpala learned that she had an out-of-town work obligation on that date, the District promptly moved for a continuance. The court granted the motion, postponing the trial by less than two months, until March 18. Flowers argues that this was an abuse of discretion requiring reversal of his conviction. This Court should reject that contention, both because there was no error, and even if there was, the continuance did not prejudice Flowers.

The decision to grant or deny a continuance is committed to the discretion of the trial court, which has "wide latitude" to assess whether a continuance is needed. *Bernal*, 162 A.3d at 133 n.8; *Little v. United States*, 709 A.2d 708, 715 n.17 (D.C. 1998). The trial court's decision may be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion, which requires "at a minimum, . . . some showing of prejudice." *Moctar v. United States*, 718 A.2d 1063, 1065 (D.C. 1998) (quoting *Mack v. United States*, 637 A.2d 430, 432 n.3 (D.C. 1994)). This makes good sense because the linchpin of the trial court's inquiry is whether the continuance is "reasonably necessary for a *just determination* of the cause." *Kimes v. United States*, 569 A.2d 104, 114 (D.C. 1989) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).

To provide the trial court with signposts for assessing the prejudicial effect of granting or denying a continuance, a movant seeking a continuance to obtain the testimony of a witness must show "(1) who [the witness is], (2) what their testimony would be, (3) the relevance and competence of such testimony, (4) that the witness can probably be obtained if the continuance is granted, and (5) that due diligence has been used to obtain their attendance at trial." *Id*.

The District did just that, so there was no abuse of discretion. It identified Okpala by name and explained that she was the "victim in this case." R. 545 (12/1/23 Mot. 2). The District explained that a continuance was needed because Okpala was an "essential witness" and was "expected to testify at length about her observations of the defendant on the incident date." R. 545 (12/1/23 Mot. 2). The relevance and competence of Okpala's testimony were also clear to all parties and the trial court because Okpala had testified during Flowers's first trial. R. 93-248 (11/8/22 Tr.). In that proceeding, the trial court found Okpala to be "genuine and credible and sincere" and "fully credit[ed]" her testimony. R. 489 (11/8/22 Tr. 151). Even though Associate Judge Weisberg—who adjudicated the District's continuance request—did not oversee Flowers's first trial, he had access to Okpala's prior testimony, which was available on the docket as an exhibit to Flowers's motion to vacate his conviction and was summarized in Associate Judge Iscoe's order affirming Flowers's first conviction. R. 93-248 (11/8/22 Tr.), 280-93 (2/8/23 Order),

560 (12/7/23 Order). It also makes no difference that trial counsel representing Flowers during his first trial provided ineffective assistance of counsel—Flowers and the trial court still had notice of the general content of Okpala's testimony and could use that testimony for impeachment purposes if needed.

Further, there was no question about Okpala's commitment to testifying at a future trial date. The District requested a continuance solely because Okpala was "scheduled to present at a work conference in Las Vegas from January 22, 2024 through January 25, 2024." R. 545 (12/1/23 Mot. 2). But, as the District explained, as soon as Okpala learned about the conference on November 27, 2023, she "immediately notified" the District, which then promptly sought a limited continuance until "the court's earliest availability" after the conflict with Okpala's schedule. R. 545 (12/1/23 Mot. 2), 557 (12/2/23 Opp'n 9 n.10). These facts demonstrated both that Okpala's testimony could likely be obtained if a continuance was granted and that the District was exercising due diligence. Viewed in light of the entire case history, the District carried its burden, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding "good cause" existed for a continuance. R. 560 (12/7/23 Order).

In any event, even if the trial court misjudged any of the relevant factors, the grant of the continuance caused Flowers no prejudice. Flowers did not even try to argue in his opposition below that the continuance would be prejudicial. *See* R. 549-

58 (12/2/23 Opp'n). That makes sense because the continuance requested was minimal: The District would accept an alternate trial date "at the court's earliest availability," R. 557 (12/2/23 Mot. 9 n.10), and the actual delay turned out to be less than two months, R. 17-18 (Super. Ct. Docket Sheet, Item Nos. 136-42). Flowers was not incarcerated pending trial. Nor did this limited delay of the trial impair his defense in any way. And no evidence favorable to Flowers was lost between January 24 and March 18. This lack of prejudice is, on its own, sufficient reason to affirm. See Moctar, 718 A.2d at 1065. Indeed, Flowers does not cite, and the District is not aware of, any decision of this Court reversing the grant of a continuance in similar circumstances. If anything, denying the District's motion would have been an abuse of discretion. See Harris v. Akindulureni, 342 A.2d 684, 686-87 (D.C. 1975) (finding the trial court abused its discretion in denying a continuance when the movant acted promptly and in good faith and there was no evidence of prejudice to the other party).

Flowers's arguments to the contrary lack merit. To start, his contention that the District inadequately proffered Okpala's testimony, Br. 26, blinks the reality of this case. As discussed, the content, relevance, and competence of her expected testimony was entirely clear to everyone given her testimony in the previous trial. Flowers and the trial court had more than a mere proffer—they had a complete transcript of Okpala's prior testimony. R. 93-248 (11/8/22 Tr.).

Flowers also complains that the District did not state whether it had subpoenaed Okpala. Br. 26. But none of the cases Flowers cites suggest a witness must be subpoenaed; a subpoena is just one form of evidence that could substantiate a litigant's diligence in obtaining a witness's attendance. See, e.g., Moctar, 718 A.2d at 1065-66 (discussing whether witness had been subpoenaed but not stating a subpoena is required); Daley v. United States, 739 A.2d 814, 818 (D.C. 1999) (same). Even in states that have statutorily codified the showing required for a continuance and mandated that a witness be subpoenaed, courts have relaxed that requirement when considering the "grant of a continuance" as opposed to the denial of a continuance. See Parker v. State, 655 S.E.2d 582, 584 (Ga. 2008) (explaining that "the terms of [Georgia's] continuance statutes are strictly applied 'in reviewing the denial, rather than the grant, of a motion for continuance'") (quoting Hicks v. State, 472 S.E.2d 474 (Ga. 1996)).

This asymmetry makes sense because the ultimate concern is "a just determination of the cause." *Kimes*, 569 A.2d at 114 (internal quotation marks omitted). *Denying* a continuance will undermine a just determination of the case if it precludes relevant testimony from a witness. But *granting* a continuance can have that effect only if the party opposing the continuance will be prejudiced by the delay—which it often will not if the delay is modest, as it was here.

Although, as noted, Flowers identified no prejudice in his trial court opposition, he now tries to fundamentally reshape the prejudice inquiry. He suggests that Okpala's testimony itself constitutes prejudice. See Br. 27-28. But Flowers identifies no case that has treated the admission of a witness's testimony following the grant of a continuance as itself prejudicial. To the contrary, in one of the cases Flowers relies upon—Bernal, 162 A.3d 128—a criminal defendant challenged the trial court's grant of a one-week continuance, which gave the government time to procure a DNA test substantiating the defendant's guilt, yet this Court still affirmed the trial court's finding that there was a "lack of prejudice" to the defendant. Id. at 132, 133 n.8. Moreover, to treat the availability of relevant evidence itself as prejudicial, even when the delay in securing that testimony causes the defendant no other harm, would be antithetical to reaching "a just determination of the cause." *Kimes*, 569 A.2d at 114.

Flowers also complains that the trial court did not make express findings to support the grant of a continuance. Br. 28-29. But no rule compels a trial court to make express findings in these circumstances. In fact, this Court has previously affirmed a trial court's denial of a continuance even though the "exact basis" for the denial "[wa]s unclear." *M.M. & G., Inc. v. Jackson*, 612 A.2d 186, 190-91 (D.C. 1992). Implicit in the trial court's finding of "good cause" to support a continuance is the court's agreement with the District's justifications for the continuance. R. 560

(12/7/23 Order). That suffices. *Cf. Jordan v. Jordan*, 14 A.3d 1136, 1149-50 (D.C. 2011) (excusing absence of express trial court findings required by statute because "the record so plainly supports the conclusion that the required findings were actually (though implicitly) made"). It would also be pointless to remand the case now for findings when the continuance caused Flowers no prejudice.

Finally, this Court should consider the implications of the remedy Flowers seeks. He asks this Court to "reverse and remand for further proceedings" or else to "remand" so that the trial court can assess whether Flowers could be found guilty without Okpala's testimony. Br. 27-29. Reading between the lines, Flowers asks for either a retrial or an outright acquittal. In the case of a retrial, the remedy awarded for a purportedly improper delay would be only further delay—a nonsensical result. And an outright acquittal would be unprecedented and unjustified—the opposite of a "just determination" of the case. Kimes, 569 A.2d at 114. Granting either remedy would only incentivize criminal defendants to object to every request for a continuance in hopes of securing a windfall on appeal if the trial does not go their way. That would not further the just resolution of criminal prosecutions on the merits; it would only clog this Court's docket. The Court should affirm the trial court's grant of a continuance.

II. The Trial Court Correctly Interpreted D.C. Code § 22-1312 To Proscribe Flowers's Exposure Of His Genitalia On The Walkway Of His Apartment Building.

Section 22-1312 makes it unlawful for any person, "in public, to make an obscene or indecent exposure of his or her genitalia." D.C. Code § 22-1312 (emphasis added). Flowers contends that "in public" limits the provision's scope to exposures occurring on public property and that the trial court therefore erred in finding Flowers violated Section 22-1312 by exposing his genitalia while on the walkway in front of his privately owned apartment building. But Flowers's restrictive reading of Section 22-1312 conflicts with this Court's case law, the ordinary meaning of the provision's text, and the legislative history. Adopting Flowers's interpretation would also create absurd loopholes and workability concerns.

This Court should instead reaffirm what it has already held: Section 22-1312 proscribes indecent and obscene exposures of genitalia that occur *in view of* the public, whether or not they occur *on* public or private property. If the Court does so, it need not reach the issue of Flowers's necessity defense at all. *See infra* Part III. It can affirm Flowers's conviction based solely on Flowers's conduct as he reentered the building, which undisputedly occurred before Flowers's purported necessity defense is implicated. Flowers has forfeited any other challenge to the trial court's finding that he violated Section 22-1312 while reentering the building. *See Barber*

v. United States, 179 A.3d 883, 893 n.19 (D.C. 2018) (arguments not raised in an opening brief on appeal are forfeited); 3/20/24 Tr. 33-34.

A. This Court has already held in *Bolz v. District of Columbia* that "in public" means "in open view" "before the people at large."

In Bolz v. District of Columbia, 149 A.3d 1130 (D.C. 2016), this Court rejected a First Amendment overbreadth challenge to Section 22-1312. The Bolz defendant argued that by prohibiting "indecent," and not just "obscene" exposures, Section 22-1312 criminalized expressive nudity, including "theatrical and artistic displays of nudity," in violation of the First Amendment. *Id.* at 1142-43. This Court disagreed. It acknowledged that the provision touched upon "certain kinds" of expressive nudity but noted that any "imposition on First Amendment rights is limited" because the provision applies only "in public." Id. at 1143. And "in public," the Court explained, means "in open view; before the people at large." Id. at 1143 (citing Report at 7). In other words, Section 22-1312 governs settings where "minors might be present or nonconsenting adults are not easily shielded from displays of nudity." Id. In so holding, this Court gave no indication that "in public" meant only on public property. To the contrary, this Court adopted a commonsense reading of "in public" that proscribes indecent and obscene exposures that occur in open view of the public at large, regardless of whether they occur on public or private property.

Bolz's discussion of the meaning of "in public" resolves this issue. Bolz is binding precedent from this Court interpreting the precise statutory language at issue. Flowers's contrary arguments and attempts to rely on decisions other than Bolz are unavailing.

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